BATTLE OF GUADALCANAL
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The succession of disasters which befell the Allies in the two months following Japan's strike at Pearl Harbor had done nothing to alter the Navy's views. The Army's stand, however, had been modified at the Navy's urging and by the force of events to the point where it began to occupy island bases as far west as its resources permitted." By the end of January 1942, U.S. Army troops had garrisoned Fiji; by mid-March they were in New Caledonia and had moved into the New Hebrides, where the Marines were positioning their 4th Defense Battalion. In May, General MacArthur, also a firm believer in the offensive, had proposed a move against Rabaul, but the troops required had not been available. Moreover, the Navy had not been willing to risk its few remaining carriers in the restricted waters of the Solomons Sea.16 Admiral Nimitz, the Pacific Ocean Area Commander, had been willing, however, to strike at Tulagi. At first, even this had appeared premature, but the subsequent actions of the American fleet units in the Coral Sea in May and in the defense of Midway in early June had altered this perception. On 25 June, Admiral Ernest J. King, the Navy's top commander, directed Admiral Nimitz to prepare an offensive against the lower Solomons.


This decision introduced the question of command responsibility since the lower Solomons were in General MacArthur's Southwest Pacific Area. The Joint Chiefs of Staff entered into the debate and on 2 July settled the issue by defining three tasks to attain the final objective; control of the New Guinea-New Britain​New Ireland area. The first task, the seizure of Santa Cruz, Tulagi and the adjacent islands would be the Navy's responsibility. For that purpose the boundary between Nimitz' and MacArthur's commands would be shifted to the west. General MacArthur then would be responsible for tasks two and three; i.e., the seizure of the central and northern Solomons and New Guinea, and the attacks against the Japanese on New Britain and New Ireland .2 In this manner, the first offensive drive against the Japanese would take place in Nimitz' Pacific Ocean Area command and within its recently designated subordinate South Pacific Area under Vice Admiral Robert Ghormley.17 The warning order for the seizure of Tulagi and the adjacent islands had not awaited JCS deliberations but had been sent to the commander of the 1st Marine Division, Major General Archer A. Vandegrift, on 26 June.18

The 1st Marine Division, although recently formed, had a lineage dating back to 1934 when the 1st Marine Brigade had become the cutting edge of the new Fleet Marine Force. Elements of the Brigade had participated in six fleet exercises from 1934 to 1941, during which time its personnel had helped develop amphibious doctrine and tested Higgins boats and the Roebling amphibian tractor. The Marine force that sailed for the Caribbean in early February 1941 to participate in FLEX-7 as the 1st Brigade, had returned in May as the 1st Division. By that time, the division, while still seriously understrength, had grown to 7,000 men. It could no longer be accommodated in its original home at Quantico and part was sent to Parris Island, South Carolina. This was a temporary arrangement; in June the division was again engaged in extensive landing exercises. These were held off the just acquired 100,000-acre New River, North Carolina base. When the exercises ended in August, the Marines remained ashore there in "Tent City", their new permanent home. New River was located in a remote coastal area of North Carolina. This meant that liberty for the Marines, who already had spent most of the year in the field, was literally beyond reach. The miserable quality of life under canvas diminished further when summer yielded to a very cold and damp winter.


A rude environmental shock awaited Company "A" of the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion when it arrived at New River on 8 December 1941. The 45 Marines of that unit, formed at Dunedin on 24 October, had become accustomed to Florida's blue skies, white beaches and comfortable billets, and where going on liberty was a matter of stepping outside. They were poorly prepared for life in "Tent City" at New River. But, worse was to come. A few days after their arrival, the company was joined by a group of "surfmen" from the Coast Guard. A mixed detachment was formed to train division personnel to fire landing boat machine guns against beach targets during a landing approach. The detachment set up camp on Onslow beach where they could be close to their boats and the firing range, and could readily embark the training details arriving from "Tent City" each morning by truck. The beach area was far removed from any other facility, and the weather, though clear, was bitterly cold. Fortunately, the detachment's survival was assured when the enterprising Coastguardsmen discovered a source of moonshine at a place known as Fulcher's Landing. The only other break in the routine of coaxing reluctant diesels to life in the numbing cold of first light, of organizing bailing details to keep the antique landing boats afloat, and of clearing jams in the ancient Lewis guns used for boat armament, were the nightly fireworks at sea, where German submarines were sinking unarmed American coastal ships with deck guns in order to save torpedoes!


The Headquarters and Service Company of the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion was activated on 16 February 1942, and the remaining Companies "B" and "C" of the Battalion were organized at the same time. The LVT(1), whose design had been frozen at the outbreak of the war to facilitate mass production, also began to arrive in numbers. The forming battalion, eventually to consist of some 500 men and 100 LVT(1)s, was moved to Peterfield Point where ready access to New River inlet and the sea allowed serious training to begin. This stressed vehicle operation and maintenance; training in field employment still lay in the future. The 3rd Platoon of Company "C" under 2nd Lieutenant John Fitzgerald, had the added privilege of being the first unit to learn how to load ungainly amtracs into the hold of a transport. This occurred when the unit was attached to the Army's 9th Infantry Division for joint landing exercises in Chesapeake Bay in an area with the prophetic name of the Solomon Islands.19 The initial and subsequent training of the amtrac units and the fact that their organization was based on the tables of organization for a motor transport battalion made it clear that amtracs were viewed as simple transportation rather than combat vehicles. Most grievous was the fact that the amtrac unit organization would adversely affect the maintenance capabilities of the cargo amtracs throughout the war. In contrast, the cannon-mounting armored amtracs that were still in the future, were organized on the basis of tank battalion tables of organization and fared much better.


The North Carolina winter was yielding to the promise of a welcome spring when Lieutenant Colonel Merritt A. Edson arrived to form the 1st Raider Battalion around a nucleus provided by the 5th Marines. This disruptive incident was duplicated on the west coast by Lieutenant Colonel Evans F. Carlson where he engaged in a similar task to form the 2nd Raiders. These units, and other specialized formations such as the parachute battalions, were a reflection of President Roosevelt's interest. Indeed, his son James, a reserve Marine officer, was to serve with Carlson in the raid on Makin Island in August 1942.


In this same early spring period, the 7th Marine Regiment was detached from the 1st Division for immediate deployment to Samoa as part of the 3rd Marine Brigade. It left shortly before 10 April when the Division itself was alerted for transfer to New Zealand. The move down under was to be made in two echelons. The Division headquarters with the 5th Regiment and its attached units, including Company "A" of the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion, were to sail first. The 1st Marine Regiment and the remainder of the Division were to follow. All ships were to be commercially loaded for maximum cargo space utilization; the first echelon troops were to be embarked principally in the USS Wakefield. The USS Ericsson was to embark most of the follow-on echelon; the remaining troops and the bulk of the equipment were to be loaded on nine other ships. It was expected that the move from New River to Wellington via Norfolk, New Orleans and San Diego would take the better part of two months. This would be followed by up to six months in New Zealand during which the Division would complete the unit training it needed to be ready for combat.
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Above: Prisoners of war during a brief respite on the notorious Bataan Death March in April 1942.  When Bataan fell, thousands of prisoners were marched 85 miles to Camp O'Donnell. Among these were 1,388 Marines of whom 490 died of wounds, malnutrition, disease or the brutality of their captors. (USMC)


The USS Wakefield with 5,000 Marines aboard left Norfolk on 20 May with a strong escort as far as the Panama Canal. Once the transit of the canal had been completed, the ship bent on 20 knots and sailed off alone for Wellington, where it arrived on 14 June 1942; it had been a brief spring and now the Marines were back in winter. But, that would not last long. Twelve days after arriving, General Vandegrift learned that his Division would conduct assault landings against Japanese-held islands in the lower Solomons beginning on 1 August - just 37 days away.20

In that last week of June, the 1st Marine Division was dispersed over thousands of miles of ocean. The 7th Marines were serving in Samoa, the 5th Marines had just arrived in Wellington, and the 1st Marines, with most of the Division's equipment, was still at sea and would not reach New Zealand until 11 July. Equally disturbing was that Vice Admiral Ghormley, in whose area the WATCHTOWER operation would take place, had a new command which lacked the operations planning and intelligence capabilities to prepare and direct the contemplated operation. To complicate the matter further, Rear Admiral Richmond K. Turner, who was to command the amphibious force that included the 1st Division, could not report to Ghormley's headquarters until 18 July - when basic operational decisions would already have been made. Then too, Admiral Fletcher, the designated Expeditionary Force commander, had voiced strong reservations over the possible success of the operation and had made it clear that his principal concern would be the protection of his carriers.3

Fletcher's views were particularly worrisome because his 250 carrier aircraft were the major air support available. Ghormley had 166 additional Navy and Marine aircraft, 95 U.S. Army aircraft and 30 aircraft from the New Zealand Air Force in Rear Admiral McCain's shore-based command. But most of these lacked the range for effective intervention in the proposed operations area and no wing tanks were on hand. Finally, Ghormley had no ground units to provide a reserve for the Marine landing force, and whatever garrison troops might eventually be required would have to be found among the forces already engaged in base defense missions in his South Pacific Area. There were no smiles on General Vandegrift's face when he assembled his commanders at his Cecil Hotel headquarters on 19 July to announce that the Division would shortly be landing against Japanese forces on Guadalcanal, Tulagi, Gavutu and Tanambogo. Those who were present on that rainy Sunday, recall the stunned silence that greeted the news, broken soon after by low voices asking "Where in hell is that?" In those days the only Solomon Islands that the 1st Division Marines knew were in Chesapeake Bay, and they certainly were not the objective area.21

Lieutenant Colonel Frank B. Goettge, the Division intelligence officer, tried to answer the question as well as he could. But, it was quickly evident that only a modest amount of information had been gathered on his hurried trip to Australia, where General MacArthur's staff had helped in the search of files and libraries, the location and interrogation of former Solomons residents, and in arranging reconnaissance flights. After the war, it was learned that maps prepared at General MacArthur's headquarters from aerial photos and intended for the Marines had been sent to Admiral Ghormley's headquarters where they had been misplaced in the confusion of setting up that organization!22

The picture presented to the assembled officers by Goettge revealed Tulagi to be a hilly, wooded island some two and a quarter miles long, lying in a bay off the Coast of Florida Island. Two small islets, Gavutu and Tanambogo, were immediately to the east and connected by a causeway. Guadalcanal, across the 20-mile wide Sealark Channel, was a massive 90-mile long island with a rugged mountain backbone paralleling its long axis and serving as the backdrop of its coastal plain. In the south, these plains were relatively narrow, but in the north where the Japanese were developing an airfield, the plains were wide, cut by several rivers and interspersed with heavy jungle, grasslands and cultivated coconut plantations. Most of the beaches of Tulagi and the nearby islets were fronted by coral formations. These also were to be found on Guadalcanal except that the beaches near the Lunga River, where the Marines were to go ashore, appeared accessible to landing boats.


This information was barely adequate for planning. Considering the uncertain sources from which most of the data came, it is not surprising that the stream on the right flank of the landing beach had been incorrectly identified and that the high ground to be seized by the 1st Marines upon landing was actually six to eight miles inland. The estimates of enemy forces were even less reliable. SOPAC headquarters thought in. terms of more than 8,000 Japanese troops in the objective area. Admiral Turner estimated 2,000 in Tulagi and vicinity and 5,275 on Guadalcanal. (The actual numbers were 1,500 and 2,230 respectively, of which one third were laborers.) Equally serious was the absence of any reliable information on Japanese reinforcing capabilities. This deficiency had not escaped Admiral Nimitz who, on 17 July, had informed Admiral King that the Marine landing force had to be strong enough to hold against the certainty that the Japanese would not allow the Marines to remain ashore ... unless convinced otherwise. This meant that the two-regiment Division had to be reinforced.


The difficulties of acquiring suitable intelligence and, carrying out any orderly planning were more than matched by the nightmare of embarkation. The focus of this was Aotea Quay in Wellington harbor, where the Marines labored around the clock to unload arriving ships, sort out their cargoes, and combat load essential equipment and supplies . . . often on the same ships that were being unloaded! The stevedores who normally worked the docks, not knowing of the impending operation, had baulked at the Marines' request to forego their tea​breaks and work in the driving rain of the New Zealand winter. The matter was only settled when the exasperated Marines closed the area to non-military personnel and did the job themselves. In these most unpleasant circumstances, the Marines combat loaded 12,500 men and equipment plus sixty days of supplies and ten days of ammunition. Regrettably, only half the motor transport could be taken but all serviceable amtracs were embarked. Individual Marines were allowed only what they could put in their packs and officers had the added privilege of a seabag. It was an austere and exhausted force that sortied Wellington harbor on the morning of 22 July 1942.


Two days earlier, the Division Operation Order 7-42 had confirmed the task organization and initial plans. By that time Admiral King had agreed to move D-Day to 7 August and sail the 2nd Marine Regiment, reinforced from San Diego, for assignment as the landing force reserve. Orders also had been issued for all units to rendezvous in the Fijis for a rehearsal and final commanders' conference. The landing force as finally constituted included the Guadalcanal Assault Force (Group X-ray) under General Vandegrift which would land the 5th Marines (less its 2nd Battalion) over Red Beach with its two battalions abreast. The 1st Marines would follow at H+50 minutes in column of battalions; pass between the 5th Marines units guarding the flanks of the beachhead and advance south and west to seize Mount Austen (Grassy Knoll). The Division headquarters and supporting units would land on order. The Tulagi (Northern) Assault Force (Group Yoke) under Brigadier General William H. Rupertus, the assistant division commander, would land the 1st Raider Battalion, followed by the 2nd Battalion, 5th Marines over Blue Beach on the northwest corner of Tulagi. Four hours later, the 1st Parachute Battalion would land on Gavutu. When that island was secured a unit of the battalion would be sent to Tanambogo to clear that island. The flank of the Tulagi Assault Force would be covered by a company of the reserve regiment (2nd Marines) which would land on Florida Island, immediately across from Tulagi Island shortly before the Raiders were to come ashore over Blue Beach.


Amphibian tractor units were assigned according to the usual practice of fragmenting combat and service support organizations to reinforce the infantry units. Thus, Company "A" with thirty LVT(1)s remained with the 5th Marines which, minus its 2nd Battalion, was to land on Guadalcanal; the 2nd Battalion with a platoon of amtracs would go ashore on Tulagi. Company "B" under Lieutenant Warren H. Edwards was assigned to the 1st Marines. The remainder of the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion, under command of Major Walter W. Barr, remained with the Division's support group. The 2nd Marine Regiment, the landing force reserve, brought with it Company "A" of the 2nd Amphibian Tractor Battalion which had sailed from San Diego on 1 July under command of Lieutenant Robert E. Smithwick. Of particular note relating to the employment of LVTs is a map with a notation that the coral off Tulagi made "landing not practical except for amphibian tanks [sic]".23  This suggests that planners knew of the problem but no one thought of using amtracs to land the assault units. Accordingly, the LVTs were to come ashore after the assault troops, follow them with heavy weapons and ammunition, and later help move supplies as required. That all serviceable amtracs were embarked, while half the motor transport was left behind, suggests that the logistic capability of the LVT(1), if not its tactical worth, was recognized.


There were, however, innovative Marines able to see beyond the amtrac's transport role. Colonel Hunt, commanding the 5th Marines, had observed that the misnamed Ilu River on the right flank of Red Beach, while a barrier to a possible Japanese counterattack, was also an obstacle to the Marine advance. He discussed the problem with his engineer and amtrac officers who agreed it would be feasible to build wooden platforms to fit over LVTs so they could be used a bridges. Three amtracs were so modified using wooden sheathing from the refrigerator rooms of the cargo transport Bellatrix.  

Thus it happened that early on 7 August, Sergeant Ralph J. Fletcher with three "volunteer" tractor crews that included William Price, John Ronzo, Frank Nappi and Giovanni Risciutto, spearheaded the landing on Guadalcanal and drove their amtracs into the stream to form two bridges over which the infantry advanced. The services of Sergeant Harry Elliott, who had volunteered to go ashore and scout out suitable bridge sites which he was to mark with red target cloth to help the amtrac drivers, were found to be unnecessary. This might have been a useful precaution if the Japanese had decided to oppose the landing and force the amtracs to pace their advance to that of the infantry.24

The rendezvous at sea some 400 miles north of Fiji took place on 26 July. The commanders' planning conference, which began at 1400 on the carrier Saratoga, was the last such occasion and also the first time that all responsible commanders had been assembled. There, General Vandegrift came in for additional suprises he did not need. Where the Marines had assumed they would receive adequate air and naval gunfire support throughout the landing, Admiral Fletcher made it clear he intended only a hit-and-run operation. His plan, as yet unpublished, was to offload the troops the first day, dump the cargo as rapidly as possible, and depart with his carriers by the end of the second day. Admiral Turner's insistence that unloading would take at least five days did not move Fletcher. Then, Turner himself added to Vandegrift's distress by insisting that the landing force reserve, the 2nd Marine Regiment, take unoccupied Ndeni Island over 200 miles away in the Santa Cruz Islands, on which to build an airfield. The final bad news was that the limited number of shore-based aviation units and the few bases in the area made it uncertain when aircraft could be sent to Guadalcanal. The possibility of using Ndeni as an interim airbase was even more remote and uncertain.


The rehearsal that followed from 28 to 30 July off Koro Island did nothing to relieve tensions or restore optimism. In General Vandegrift's own words it was a "complete bust. "2' Finally, on the evening of 31 July 1942, the eighty-two ships of the WATCHTOWER expeditionary force left Fijian waters for the run to the objective area. On board the thirteen troop transports, six cargo ships and four converted destroyer transports were 19,000 Marines., The rollback of the Japanese in the Pacific was about to begin!


The good fortune so missed in July made its appearance with the new month. The task force made its way to the objective area undetected. Equally encouraging, the first air strikes and the naval bombardment, which began soon after 0600 on the morning of 7 August 1942, caught the enemy completely by surprise. By 0740 Northern Group elements of the 1st Battalion, 2nd Marines reached Florida Island. Forty minutes later they were in position to cover the flanks of the 1st Raider Battalion, which had begun landing on Tulagi at 0800. Luckily, the landing was unopposed since the coral grounded the boats thirty to one hundred yards offshore, requiring the assault troops to wade to the beach. Once ashore, the Raiders had turned southeast to sweep the long axis of the island. No resistance was encountered until shortly before noon on the approach to the former British Residency, in the main population center. The 2nd Battalion, 5th Marines had followed the Raiders ashore and then turned northwest to sweep that part of the island. That done, the battalion had come to

they pressed forward. Two enemy counterattacks were thrown back during the night, the first with some difficulty. The Marine advance was resumed the next morning with both Marine battalions in action. Although bitterly resisted by the fanatical Japanese, the advance continued until Tulagi was restored to Allied control on the afternoon of 8 August.

Four hours after the Raiders had started landing on Tulagi, the 1st Parachute Battalion scrambled ashore on Gavutu. The cruiser San Juan had pumped 280 five-inch shells on to the island in four minutes and dive-bombers had added their loads to the preparation of the landing site, but the fully-alerted enemy hit the Marines hard as they came ashore. Despite ten per cent losses, the Marine paratroopers kept driving and by 1430 they held all of Gavutu, except for a section covered by fire from Tanambogo which made further movement impossible. Brigadier General Rupertus reacted by ordering Company "B" of the 1st Battalion, 2nd Marines then on Florida to assist the paratroops. The company embarked in six landing boats at 1800 and moved toward Tanambogo. On the approach, soon after nightfall, one boat grounded on the coral but the following boat landed thirty men without incident. Then a sudden fire in a nearby fuel dump illuminated the remaining boats as they prepared to beach. The Japanese immediately opened a heavy fire and forced the boats to retire. The thirty Marines already ashore also came under heavy fire. Unable to advance, the survivors, with their wounded, made their way back to their boat and withdrew. The difficult situation was reported to General Vandegrift who obtained the release of the force reserve from Admiral Turner. The 3rd Battalion, 2nd Marines was landed at 0730 the morning of 8 August with orders to clear Gavutu and take Tanambogo. By evening of the next day the job had been done.


It was during this period that five amtracs from the 3rd Platoon, Company "A", 2nd Amphibian Tractor Battalion, under Lieutenant Ray D. "Hootie" Horner, were put over the side to run emergency supplies, water, and ammunition from the transport President Adams to the troops ashore and evacuate wounded on their return. This service continued until the islands were secured on 9 August. Incident to one of these supply runs, one of-the LVTs moved deep inland to engage an enemy strongpoint with its machine guns and pick up seven wounded Marines who were unable to move because of enemy fire. The reputation of the amtracs as "can-do" people was beginning.26

On the other side of Sealark Channel, the landing on Guadalcanal, set for 0910, proceeded as planned. The LVT bridge-site reconnaissance team landed with the assault infantry and moved inland to find and mark the river access positions for the bridging LVTs, which quickly followed. These were successfully emplaced and immediately proved most useful. The overall movement inland, however, was slow because the troops, expecting to find the enemy at any moment, advanced with care. Moreover the terrain of the coastal plain, particularly near the Tenaru River on the route of advance of the 1st Marines, was extremely difficult. Trucks could not tow artillery in position and amtracs had to be pressed into service to do the job. At 1430, Colonel Cates's 1st Marines were still passing through the 5th Marines and were a long way from Mount Austen; Colonel Cates had already concluded that his assigned objective had been incorrectly located and was well beyond the reach of his regiment.


By evening of D-Day, the Division had moved its troops ashore in a relatively smooth landing. In contrast, the supply situation on the beach was chaotic. There, the Pioneer Battalion had far too few hands to unload boats and set up supply dumps. This situation had arisen because no combat unit commander wanted to weaken his force to provide working parties while expecting a fight at any moment. The result was a worsening confusion that by 2230 had forced General Vandegrift to request Admiral Turner, although to suspend unloading until the beach could be cleared. Admiral Turner, under pressure to get all supplies ashore as quickly as possible, accepted the situation and reluctantly agreed.
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Above: LVT(1)s of the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion bring supplies ashore during the Guadalcanal landing on 7 August 1942. Note the canvas cover used to protect the cargo compartment in high surf. The LVT(1)s were unarmored and armed with three World War I model water-cooled.30 caliber machine guns and one .50 caliber machine gun. (USMC)
The enemy reaction that first day had been relatively light. Eighteen bombers had arrived at 1320, but had damaged only one destroyer. A second attack at 1500 had caused no damage at all. That night the forces afloat were undisturbed, but trigger-happy Marines ashore were busy shooting at shadows, noisy land crabs ... and occasionally hitting fellow Marines. The next morning the order to take Mount Austen was cancelled and the Marines were directed to take the airfield and expand the beachhead in preparation for establishing a defense perimeter. By nightfall, the Marines had overrun the unfinished airfield and uncovered large stocks of food, supplies and ammunition left behind by the Japanese. These had been quickly secured ... but not before Sergeant Cantrell of Company "A", 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion, had liberated a generous load of Japanese Asahi beer. Cantrell assured the friends he invited to share his bounty that he, personally, had tested the beer for purity and that warnings given earlier that the Japanese might poison abandoned consumables were unfounded.


The day otherwise had been marked by a forty bomber raid at noon which damaged a destroyer and set the transport George F. Elliott on fire; both ships later sank. The dramatic night to follow began with Admiral Turner's invitation to General Vandegrift to a conference on the flagship. There, shortly before midnight, Vandegrift learned that Turner would pull all transports and cargo ships out the next morning. The reasons given were that a Japanese task force was reported to be moving south and that Admiral Fletcher, having lost twenty​one aircraft, had already left ... taking with him all available air support.27  Soon after this bad news was announced, the Japanese task force, which was thought to be some distance away, appeared and opened a devastating fire against the American screening group ships patrolling off Savo Island to cover the approaches to the transport area. In a short 32-minute engagement seven Japanese cruisers poured a hail of gunfire and torpedoes at four American and two Australian cruisers that left four sinking and a fifth damaged. Then, inexplicably, the Japanese force withdrew. After the war it was learned that a salvo from the Quincey had struck the Japanese flagship's operations center, destroying communications and navigation facilities. Vice-Admiral Gunichi Mikawa, finding his command capabilities impaired and his forces scattered, decided he should retire rather than run the risk of being attacked after daylight by American carrier aircraft.


Not until dawn did the Marines ashore discover the magnitude of the losses sustained in the Battle of Savo Island: Navy personnel killed in this battle exceeded the total number of Marines who would die throughout the Guadalcanal campaign. The only consolation was that the departure of the Japanese and the need for repair and rescue operations caused Turner to delay his departure. This allowed the unloading of the transports to resume at the beginning of the day. Unfortunately when he departed in the late afternoon, he took with him 1,390 Marines from working parties, headquarters detachments and support elements, including Company "A" of the 2nd Amphibian Tractor Battalion. Also included among the Marines who had been unable to get ashore was the headquarters of the 2nd Marine Regiment whose battalions had been committed individually in the Gavutu and Tanambogo battles.


Throughout the first three days the amtracs on Guadalcanal joined in the round-the-clock effort to supply the infantry, position artillery and clear the heath. When Turner left on the afternoon of 9 August these tasks were far from complete.
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Right: Amtracs used as pontoons over which wooden bridges have been built. Speed is of the essence during the initial landing hence the use of field expedients to span waterways. (USMC) 
The general situation, however, appeared stable . . . if only for the moment. The Tulagi area had been secured and the lack of enemy resistance on Guadalcanal had facilitated the seizure of the airfield and the organization of beachhead defenses. The difficulty was that without the U.S. Navy, the nearby waters and skies were open to the Japanese. This made it unacceptably hazardous to shift Marine units from Tulagi to Guadalcanal where they were sorely needed to strengthen the thin defense perimeter. The problem was evidenced by the frequent appearance of Japanese aircraft and occasional submarines. These last were particularly annoying, not because of the harassing fire of their deck guns, but because their crews came out on deck to do their laundry! Strangely enough, the Japanese made little effort to hit the congested beach where one well-directed bomb or shell would have created havoc. It was during these same early days, when the amtrac battalion had moved to the Tenaru River, that an enterprising amtrac officer, Captain Horace "Hod" Fuller, with the help of Joseph "Hoboken" Burns, put the Japanese power-house, which had been damaged by naval gunfire, back into operation.

Initially, the Japanese had not looked upon the American intrusion into the lower Solomons as serious. This confident attitude was due to the priority attention they were giving to extending their hold on New Guinea and to their gross underestimation of the strength of the American lodgement. Then too, the Imperial Navy had kept quiet about its defeat at Midway, but had been loud in proclaiming its victory at Savo Island. Thus, when Lieutenant-General Hyaku​take, commanding Japan's Seventeenth Army, was ordered to retake the
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Right, centre and bottom: The success of the LVT bridges in Guadalcanal led Marines in New Zealand to test various types of bridges using LVTs for flotation; here are crossings with a truck and a light tank, whilst the latter shows a hinged platform bridge. (USMC)
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southern Solomons, neither he nor any other Japanese thought it would be difficult. Under the confidence that prevailed, the dispersal and fragmentation of Seventeenth Army units was not seen as a problem. However, the piecemeal commitment of that Army which followed proved disastrous.


The first to suffer was Colonel Kiyono Ichiki whose 28th Infantry Regiment had been turned back at Midway. The Colonel, returning with his unit to Japan, was halted en route and ordered to Truk where an initial echelon comprising a reinforced infantry battalion was loaded on six destroyers for movement to Guadalcanal. The force arrived without incident late on the night of 18 August. The next day, Ichiki sent out a strong patrol which was wiped out by a Marine force from Company "A" of the 1st Marines under Captain Charles H. Brush. Despite this loss, and without awaiting the arrival of the rest of his regiment, Ichiki advanced along the beach towards the Marine positions on the east flank of the perimeter held by the 2nd Battalion, 1st Marines under Lieutenant Colonel Edwin A. Pollock. By midnight, 20 August, Marine outposts began reporting the presence of a large Japanese force. This was soon confirmed by Sergeant Major Vouza of the Native Constabulary who, the day before, had been captured by the Japanese, tortured, and left for-dead. Vouza, with multiple wounds, had chewed through his bindings, escaped, and made his way through the Japanese forces to the Marine lines to report. Decorated by the American and British governments, Sergeant Major Vouza survived to live a long and respected life.

Above:  Map Detailing the Battle of Guadalcanal[image: image10.jpg]




Shortly after 0300 on the 21st, Ichiki struck at the Marine positions with a company-size force. An initial penetration was promptly thrown back. Ichiki then reorganized and, under covering fire from supporting weapons, launched his whole force into a frontal assault. Meanwhile, the 1st Battalion, 1st Marines under Lieutenant Colonel Leonard B. Cresswell, had worked its way around the Japanese formation and at 0900 struck its flank and rear. The Japanese crumbled under these hammer and anvil tactics. The action was climaxed by the arrival of several light Marine tanks which soon finished the job. By late afternoon there were 800 Japanese dead on the beach and fifteen dazed prisoners under Marine guard. A handful of stragglers had managed to disappear into the nearby jungle. The Battle of the Tenaru was over!29

Although the Marines had never accepted the myth of Japanese invincibility which grew out of the spectacular initial victories of Japanese arms, the abrupt departure of the U.S. Navy had left them uneasy. This feeling had not been helped by the encounters of the first Marine patrols. One in particular, launched on 12 August, had been a terrible tragedy. It had involved an ill-conceived landing in the vicinity of the Matanikau River under the leadership of Lieutenant Colonel Goettge. Included among the 24 others in the ill-fated patrol had been Lieutenant Commander Malcom L. Pratt, the 5th Marines' surgeon, Captain William Ringer, the 5th Marines' intelligence officer, and Lieutenant Ralph Cory, a Japanese language officer with an exceptional understanding and appreciation of Japanese history and culture. Goettge had expected to find a disorganized group of enemy survivors. His patrol, instead, ran into a well-armed ambushing force which promptly killed all but three of the Americans.30  These were able to make their way back to friendly lines and report on the disaster. The shocking news, which quickly spread to all the troops in the perimeter, was offset in part by word that a destroyer transport had arrived with aviation ground personnel, supplies and fuel ... the newly named Henderson Field, it appeared, would soon be occupied. Four days later a battalion strength operation in the same Matanikau River area battered Japanese forces. Then, on 20 August, Major John L. Smith brought in nineteen fighters from VMF 223 and Lieutenant Colonel Richard Mangrum landed with twelve dive-bombers from VMSB 232.

The arrival of Marine air units was an electrifying event which made it possible for the Americans to gain some measure of control over Guadalcanal's airspace and coastal waters, at least during the day. Thereafter, the Japanese were encouraged to conduct their supply, troop reinforcement and harassing opera​tions at night . . . which gave rise to the Tokyo Express for logistic runs, to "Washing Machine Charlie" for nocturnal anti-personnel bomb drops, and to the use of destroyers for frequent night gunnery exercises targeting the Marines' positions. Everyone on Guadalcanal, ground troops, aviation personnel, officers and men, lived in foxholes or near dugouts where they shared in sleepless nights. It was a difficult period, particularly for the pilots who had to maintain demanding operational schedules each day. But with Marine aircraft now based ashore and with the first Japanese counter-thrust defeated, the Marines began to think that they might have a future after all!


The pattern of what was to follow was well set within two weeks of the Marine landings. Thenceforth each side sought to build up its forces on Guadalcanal to the point where it could drive the opponent out. The contest lasted six months and resulted in a succession of encounters at sea and ashore. Among the lesser of these were two incidents which involved Lieutenant Drew Barrett, a machine gun platoon commander in Company "M" of the 5th Marines. Barrett had found a Japanese 3-inch dual-purpose gun on the beach sector he was assigned to defend. He soon organized a gun crew and incorporated the weapon in his fire plan. The test came on 19 August when a Japanese light cruiser slowly steamed by, well beyond the gun's maximum range. Undaunted, Barrett mustered his crew and opened fire. The cruiser disdainfully trained one turret and fired a single salvo which showered dirt over gun and crew and immediately convinced Barrett that the contest was unequal and should not continue. Five days later, a Japanese submarine fired a torpedo at a visiting American cargo ship standing off Barrett's platoon position. The torpedo missed the ship, ran up onto the beach and stopped directly in front of the 3-inch gun. Barrett regarded the torpedo attack as a personal affront 
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Above: A Japanese officer of Colonel Ichiki's 28th Infantry, killed while leading his unit, during the Battle of Tenaru on 21 August 1942, against defences manned by the 1st Marines on the east flank of the American beachhead. (USMC)
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Above: Native scouts lead a Raider unit into a ridge complex overlooking Henderson Field a few days before the attack by the Kawaguchi Brigade. Note the open nature of the ridges and the proximity of the jungle, providing excellent concealment for all movement even in daylight. (USMC)

and declared himself ready to fire again at the next opportunity. He was discouraged from doing so, however, by neighboring units who were not interested in being singled out as targets by Japanese gunners. The gun was never fired again.31

On 24 August, the day of Barrett's torpedoing, Admiral Fletcher with two carriers, encountered a strong Japanese force covering the movement of reinforcements to Guadalcanal. American carrier aircraft sank the Japanese light carrier Ryujo; the Enterprise was damaged in exchange. The contestants disengaged but later that night the Japanese reinforcement group reached Guadalcanal, unloaded its troops and shelled the Marine positions. The next morning Guadalcanal-based aircraft sank a Japanese destroyer. That ended the Battle of the Eastern Solomons, but not the Tokyo Express whose destroyers continued to ferry in men and supplies. In this fashion, General Kawaguchi's 35th Brigade and other elements making up a force of 6,000 men was assembled and readied for battle. The Americans, alerted to the imminent Japanese attack, strengthened their perimeter by bringing over troops from Tulagi and using support units, including the Pioneer and Amphibian Tractor Battalions, to occupy defensive positions. Included in these preparatory measures was the deployment of the raiders and paratroops under Lieutenant Colonel Edson on a commanding ridge one mile south of the airfield.


During this same period, the Cactus Air Force, so named after the code​name for Guadalcanal, continued to grow. The U.S. Army Air Corps contributed the 67th Fighter Squadron, equipped with limited capability P-40s. Soon after, other Marine fighter and dive-bomber squadrons were added. Then, on 30 August, the Saratoga was torpedoed and 24 of her fighters moved on to Guadalcanal. Less than two weeks later, on 12 September, a Japanese naval task force arrived to shell Marine positions while Japanese patrols probed Edson's force on the ridge. The next day was marked by sporadic fighting on the ground and in the air. That night, Kawaguchi threw in his main effort, which bent but did not overrun Edson's Marines. The precarious situation was stabilized by the arrival of the 2nd Battalion, 5th Marines which joined in the destruction of Kawaguchi's command. Colonel Edson's direction of the Battle of the Ridge, an exemplary example of personal leadership under the most demanding of combat conditions, earned him the Medal of Honor.


The days immediately following the defeat of the Kawaguchi Brigade were relatively calm. At sea, however, a task force bringing in the 7th Marines from Samoa together with badly needed aviation gasoline and other supplies was roughly handled. Japanese torpedoes sank the carrier Wasp, damaged the battleship North Carolina, and sank a destroyer, but the reinforcements arrived on 18 September and offloaded safely. The aircraft from the Wasp were added to the Cactus Air Force. The Marines now had eleven infantry battalions on Guadalcanal. Accordingly, General Vandegrift moved his infantry to the more vulnerable flank and inland defensive positions and entrusted the less threatened beaches to his support units, including the 1st Amphibian Tractor Battalion.


By now, most of the LVT(1)s had become inoperative. A few could still be used for special transport tasks such as the supply of the Marines at the Matanikau River in early October, where amtracs also were used to make noise at night to deceive the Japanese into believing the Marines were making a crossing. Other than for such infrequent assignments, the amtrac units settled into defensive positions whence they continued to assist aviation personnel in servicing aircraft armament and providing machine gun parts to infantry units ... this being made possible by the generous allowance of three .30 caliber machine guns and one .50 caliber machine gun for each amtrac.
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Above: Guadalcanal, September 1942. A Japanese paymaster's safe has been converted to an oven by Marine cooks seeking to improve the two-meals per day routine imposed by shortage of rations. (USMC)


The Japanese themselves were not idle. As Marine patrols probed the Matanikau area it became apparent that strong new Japanese forces were being assembled there for yet another thrust at the perimeter. Most disturbing was the fact that the Japanese had now brought in several 150mm guns with the range to hit anything within the perimeter, including the airfield. The Marines decided to strike at the enemy and force his artillery beyond range of the airfield. By strange coincidence the Marine attack, launched on-7 October, came at the same time that Colonel Tadamasu Nakamura moved out with his 4th Infantry Regiment to bring the artillery closer to the Marine positions. In a confused and difficult three days of fighting, much of it in heavy rain, the Marines succeeded in killing 700 Japanese at a cost of 65 dead and 125 wounded. The action was
broken off when the Marines learned that a massive new Japanese force was coming in against them; General Hyakutake himself had just landed and would take personal command of the decisive effort.


Even after the heavy losses they had sustained, the Japanese on Guadalcanal totalled some 20,000 men in mid-October. These included the 2nd Sendai Division, two battalions of the 38th Division, substantial artillery and combat support units, and the remnant of the Ichiki and Kawaguchi forces. The Marine strength was about the same. But, where the Japanese could continue to send in fresh units, the Americans had nothing in their rear areas to call forward. Moreover, battle attrition and disease were steadily weakening the Cactus defenders. These adverse circumstances caused Admiral Ghormley to relieve the Army's 164th Infantry Regiment from garrison duty in New Caledonia and send them to reinforce the hard-pressed Marines. The transports with the Army troops were protected by a task force built around four cruisers under command of Rear Admiral Norman Scott. Early on 10 October, Scott surprised a strong Japanese force near Guadalcanal and in a confused night action mortally damaged one Japanese cruiser, severely damaged another and sank a destroyer. The American cruiser Boise was damaged. The Battle of Cape Esperance was counted as an American victory not only because the losses favored the Americans, but also because the Japanese withdrew and left the way clear for the landing of the 164th Infantry two days later.


The newly arrived Army troops, former National Guardsmen from the Dakotas, received a rude welcome. On the day of their landing, the Japanese opened up with their long-range shore-based artillery. Then, that night, a task force including two battleships entered Sealark Channel, by then renamed Iron Bottom Bay, and in ninety minutes fired more than 900 fourteen-inch rounds into the airfield and vicinity. Half the American aircraft were destroyed and casualties, particularly among aviation personnel, were heavy. Daylight brought no relief; instead there were two heavy air raids. That night a cruiser force resumed the bombardment of the airfield; the same pattern was repeated the next day and the night that followed.


On the night of 14 October, while Japanese cruisers were delivering the first allotment of 750 eight-inch rounds to the groggy Marines, five transports arrived and started to disembark General Maruyama's 2nd Division. When daylight appeared, the Marines patched up whatever remaining aircraft appeared opera​tional and launched a succession of strikes against the Japanese transports unloading within full view of the beleaguered Marines. Even the 1st Marine Air Wing commander's PBY was pressed into service for a spectacular torpedo run which earned Major Jack Cram, General Geiger's pilot, the Navy Cross. That evening the Japanese transports were beached and afire, but more than 3,000 troops with large quantities of equipment and supplies had been put ashore. These were quickly integrated into the Japanese commander's attack plan, which called for a major thrust against the Marine perimeter from the south and a diversionary attack across the Matanikau to the west. These attacks were scheduled for 18 October.


Heavy rains and difficult terrain hampered the movement of the Japanese main body and forced a delay in the main effort. However the diversion force near the Matanikau began to probe Marine lines with patrols on 20 October. All of these were thrown back by the vigilant Marines. Finally, on the evening of the 23rd, the Japanese spearheaded an attack with nine tanks. Marine 37mm guns stopped the Japanese armor cold; heavy artillery fire from the 11th Marines then decimated the Japanese infantry and ended the action.


The main attack, directed against the same ridge unsuccessfully assaulted by General Kawaguchi in September, began at 0300 on 25 October. This time the position was held by the 1st Battalion, 7th Marines under command of the legendary Lieutenant Colonel Lewis B. "Chesty" Puller; the 2nd Battalion, 164th Infantry was deployed on the left. The American line met the initial Japanese attack, but as the enemy continued to press, Puller called for reinforcements. The 3rd Battalion, 164th Infantry was ordered forward. Their move at night in heavy rain and into an area swept by enemy fire resulted in the Army battalion being fed piecemeal into the battle. Despite this unavoidable procedure, the Japanese attacks, which continued throughout the night, were all contained. At dawn the Japanese 150mm guns, which the Marines collectively called "Pistol Pete" opened a sustained fire. Soon after, Japanese aircraft began to parade overhead in a succession of raids which kept the Marines at "Condition Red" for the entire day. Finally, to ensure that this Sunday would not be forgotten, three Japanese destroyers dashed into Iron Bottom Bay, drove off two American destroyer transports, sank a tug, set two harbor patrol boats afire and bombarded beach positions.


That night the Japanese infantry again tried to pierce the American lines ... and, again they failed. Then, after having lost a divisional commander, two regimental commanders and 3,500 officers and men, the Japanese broke contact and withdrew. The ground action was over. At sea, however, a large Japanese task force built around four carriers and four battleships appeared off the Santa Cruz islands. Rear Admiral Thomas C. Kincaid, who had relieved Fletcher, moved to the attack. In a violent exchange of air strikes on 26 October, three Japanese carriers and two destroyers were damaged. The Americans lost the Hornet and one destroyer, and had the Enterprise, South Dakota, San Juan and one destroyer damaged. The Americans also lost 74 aircraft. Far more crippling to the Japanese was the loss of one hundred of their carrier aircraft. The Battle of Santa Cruz was inconclusive, but when the Japanese commander heard of the failure of the ground forces' attack against the American perimeter, he withdrew. The round thus went to the Americans.


The tide appeared to be favoring the Americans. Already, on 18 October, the aggressive Vice Admiral William F. Halsey, Jr. had replaced the ill-served Ghormley and had immediately promised General Vandegrift all the support he could find. Then General Holcomb, the Marine Commandant who was visiting the area at the time, initiated action to place the landing force commander on the same command level as the naval task force commander for planning and grant the landing force commander unhampered authority over operations ashore following the assault phase. This would henceforth give the landing force commander a stronger voice in planning decisions and would help in keeping aggressive admirals from trying to direct combat operations on land. The final positive note of the month was sounded on 24 October when President

Roosevelt, confronted by the conflicting demands of the European and Pacific theaters, had directed the Joint Chiefs of Staff to ensure that Guadalcanal be rapidly reinforced.


The first unit affected was the 147th Infantry Regiment, standing ready to implement the long-waiting plan to occupy Ndeni. Halsey cancelled the plan and sent the regiment to Guadalcanal. The 8th Marine Regiment and the 2nd Raider Battalion followed, along with numerous Army and Marine support units. One of these, an Army 155mm gun battery which went into action on 2 November 1942, was equipped with French GPF guns manufactured at Le Creusot in 1917; a reminder that in World War I, a good portion of the artillery of the American Expeditionary Corps had been provided by our ally. This was not the only example of vintage armament used on Guadalcanal. The Marines went ashore with the 1903 bolt-action rifle and their 1917 water-cooled .30 caliber machine guns were carried on the same two-wheel hand-towed carts that had been used on the Western Front a generation earlier.


The Marine command on Guadalcanal moved quickly to exploit the defeat of General Hyakutake and make use of the arriving American air and ground units. Early on the morning of 1 November, the 5th Marines crossed the Matanikau River and advanced some 1,000 yards against light resistance, to the vicinity of Point Cruz where a strong Japanese force was encountered. The Japanese were encircled the next day and on 3 November the position was assaulted and overrun; more than 300 enemy dead were counted in the area and twelve 37mm anti-tank guns and thirty-four machine guns were also captured. At the news of this new disaster, General Hyakutake decided to forego a planned move against Port Moresby in favor of cleaning the Americans out of Guadalcanal once and for all. To that end, he called for his remaining reserves from Rabaul.


The first move in the Japanese plan was to assemble all units remaining on the island at Koli Point, some dozen miles to the east of the Marine perimeter; these forces would then be augmented with new arrivals. A Marine patrol had the area under observation on 2 November when six Japanese ships brought in 1,500 fresh troops. This began a month-long series of violent clashes scattered over a wide area, which succeeded in destroying most of the Japanese in the eastern part of the island. The action then shifted back to the area west of the perimeter, where additional fresh Japanese had landed. But, as the Americans began to move against these new intruders, word was received of a possible major Japanese offensive. The Marines pulled back to the Matanikau to prepare themselves. On 12 November the Japanese landed the remainder of their 38th Division without incident. The same day the Americans brought in the 182nd Infantry Regiment. That night a Japanese bombardment force with two battleships moved down to hit the airfield. Rear Admiral Daniel Callaghan with five cruisers took on the superior force and drove it off. The cost, however, was high. Admiral Callaghan was killed, as was Admiral Scott who had brought in the troop transports. In addition the Americans lost two cruisers and four destroyers and had two other cruisers and two destroyers damaged. The Japanese battleship Hiei received eighty hits and was finished off by the Cactus Air Force the next morning.


A second Japanese bombardment group moved in on the night of 14 November and worked over the Guadalcanal airfield for half an hour. Damage was slight and the force withdrew. The next morning, Guadalcanal aircraft from Henderson Field were surprised to discover that a large Japanese force with transports carrying an estimated 10,000 men and large stocks of supplies was heading for Guadalcanal, despite the obvious failure of the two bombardment groups to put the airfield out of action. The Japanese task force was taken under attack by shore- and carrier-based aircraft throughout the day. By evening, nine transports 
had been hit and seven sunk; 5,000 troops, however, were rescued by Japanese destroyers. That night Admiral Kondo with one battleship and four cruisers made one more attempt at hitting the airfield. The Americans had two battleships waiting for him.  When the Japanese arrived the Americans sank the battleship Kirishima and one destroyer at a cost of three destroyers and 42 hits on the American battleship South Dakota. The Japanese withdrew without striking at the airfield. At daybreak the last four Japanese transports, now unprotected, ran themselves up on the beach where they were able to disembark 2,000 troops before being destroyed by Cactus aircraft. The Battle of Guadalcanal was over; the last Japanese offensive had been stopped before it started, and although more fighting remained, the issue was no longer in doubt.


After the Battle of Guadalcanal, the Imperial Navy was ready to abandon the island. But in a reversal of earlier roles, the Imperial Army objected. Thus, one more attempt was made to uphold a lost cause. On 30 November, Rear-Admiral Taizo Tanaka with eight destroyers, six of which were crammed with troops, arrived off Tassafaronga where he encountered a strong American force under Rear Admiral Carleton H. Wright. The Americans detected the Japanese but waited too long to launch torpedoes. When they did, they hit nothing. The twenty Japanese torpedoes fired in reply sank one American cruiser and damaged three others. The Battle of Tassafaronga was a costly affair for the Americans, but it denied the Japanese access to Guadalcanal and cost them one destroyer.  Most importantly, it demonstrated to the Japanese that entry into Guadalcanal waters would henceforth be difficult if not impossible.
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Above: A Marine patrol prepares to move out in captured Japanese Army trucks to an assembly point from where it will continue on foot into the interior. (USMC)


Whatever the news, nothing could depress the Marines of the 1st Division, who had just learned they were to be relieved. On 9 December 1942, General Vandegrift passed command of the Guadalcanal area to Major General Alexander M. Patch, commanding the Army's American Division. The 5th Marines were embarking on their transports even as the change-of-command ceremony was taking place. The remainder of the Division soon followed and by Christmas most of the troops were in Australia and under General MacArthur's command.


The Japanese retained some 25,000 troops on Guadancanan. These were scattered, short of supplies and physically spent. But, 50,000 fresh troops had arrived in Rabaun waiting to move into battle. The difficulty, as demonstrated in December, was that runs to Guadalcanan were now prohibitively costly; three such attempts had cost the Japanese ten destroyers damaged and one submarine sunk. Thus, with the New Year, the Japanese decided to abandon Guadalcanan to the Americans. During the following six weeks some 11,000 Japanese were evacuated. At that same time, the Americans brought in the 8th Marines, the last element needed to complete the 2nd Marine Division, and the Army's 25th Infantry Division. This gave General Patch a three division force which, on 2 January 1943, was designated XIV Corps. The Army and Marine units supported by more than 200 Army, Navy and Marine aircraft, based at the newly designated Marine Corps Air Base, Guadalcanal, moved off against the remaining Japanese and, in a succession of sharp actions, cleared the island. On 9 February 1943, General Patch reported "The Tokyo Express no longer has a terminus on Guadalcanal! "32

Guadalcanal cost the Marines 4,000 battle casualties and twice that number were incapacitated by malaria and other tropical diseases. The price, though painful, was relatively low in terms of what had been accomplished. In General Vandegrift's own words written five years later:

"We struck at Guadalcanal to halt the advance of the Japanese. We did not know how strong he was, 
nor did we know his plans. We knew only that he was moving down the island chain and that he had to 
be stopped.  


We were as well trained and as well armed as time and our peacetime experience allowed 
us to be. We needed combat to tell us how effective our training, our doctrines and our weapons had 
been.  


We tested then against the enemy, and we found that they worked. From that moment in 1942, 

the tide turned and the Japanese never again advanced."33
The amphibian tractor units had shared in the hardships of the campaign and had demonstrated the versatility of their vehicles in a host of logistic tasks. There also had been a few incidents where individual amtracs had served as tactical vehicles. The other lesson learned was that the LVT(1) was not mechanically reliable. Thus, as time went on most of the amtracs became inoperable and the troops were used for perimeter defense. Under the circumstances there was no reason to suggest changes in organization or function of amphibian tractor units. The 1st Battalion left its few remaining serviceable vehicles on Guadalcanal, and went on to Australia to be rested and re-equipped with new LVT(1)s in preparation for the campaign to follow.

